UIdaho Law Digital Commons @ UIdaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

10-3-2011

Bailey v. Bailey Appellant's Brief Dckt. 38760

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

i. Nature of the Case

This is an appeal from the following:

ORDER ON APPEAL ORDER OF REMAND ORDER DENYING PETITION FOR REHEARING

ii. Course of the Proceedings.

(a) On June 24, 2009, Respondents filed a Petition for Accounting and Separation of personal representative's attorney fees from estate attorney fees, [R. Vol. III, p. 405], which petition was supported by an affidavit of respondents' counsel. [R. Vol. II, p. 399].

(b) Appellant answered respondents' motion by filing a responding affidavit. [R. Vol III, p. 407].

(c) The court heard arguments regarding the Petition for Accounting on August 31, 2009 [Tr. p. 143] and "denied the part of the petition which requires or asks that the personal representative and counsel attempt to separate out that which was for the estate and that which was personal." [Tr. P. 154]. The court ordered the personal representative to file a "memorandum of fees and costs in support of any fees which are requested under the statute." [Tr. pp. 154-155].

(d) On September 17, 2009, the Trial Court entered an Order on the Petition for Accounting. [R. Vol. III, p. 431]. The Order commanded the personal representative to file a final accounting indicating all property, income and expenses to date as well as a memorandum of fees and costs reflecting the work provided for personal representative.

(e) On September 16, 2009, personal representative's counsel filed a Memorandum of Costs, [R. Vol. III, p. 416], which costs (including fees) the <u>personal representative paid</u>.

(f) On September 29, 2009, respondents filed an objection to the Memorandum of Costs. [R. Vol. III, p. 459].

(g) On October 21, 2009, the court held arguments on respondents' request for additional Detail and Accounting and Objection to Memorandum of Costs, and on November 19, 2009, the court issued its order thereon, [R.Vol. III, p.484], finding the Memorandum of Costs to be insufficient, under IRCP 54(e)(3), for the court to determine whether the requested fees were reasonable, and ordering that the memorandum of costs be resubmitted, to comport with IRCP 54(e)(3), to specifically outline the basis for the claimed fees, regarding the value of particular services provided.

(h) On December 1, 2009, appellant filed a Motion for Reconsideration of the November 19, 2009 order, [Vol. III, pp. 490A, 490B], stating that no time records were maintained for legal services, although details confirming the performance of each service had already been submitted to the court. He requested that a determination be made pursuant to IRCP 54(e)(3)(J) and (L). (i) On December 16, 2009, the court issued its Order Denying Motion for Reconsideration. [R. Vol. III, p. 491]. The court ordered that pursuant to §15-3-720, counsel must show time records for the work performed, in order for the court to determine if the attorney's fees are reasonable and that without such records the court could not grant the request for such fees.

(j) This appeal followed.

iii. STATEMENT OF FACTS

(a) On October 17, 2006, appellant and his attorney entered into an attorney-client contract. [R. Vol. III, p. 574].

(b) The contract stated, inter alia, that "You [Reginald R. Reeves] will use your best efforts on my behalf, for which I [Personal Representative] will pay all expenses incurred, together with a fee to be determined by you, based upon what you believe the services to be reasonably worth, and not based upon an hourly basis."

(c) In accordance with such contract, Mr. Reeves billed on the reasonable worth of his legal services to the estate, not on an hourly basis. No time records were kept.

(d) Respondents moved for a final accounting, which was provided, and the court required time records. [Tr. 172, lines 23-25].

(e) A notice of inability to comply was filed [R. Vol. III, p. 489],

stating that pursuant to such contract, no time records were maintained.

(f) The court then denied the entitlement to the fees set forth in such memorandum.

(g) The court entered an order requiring the filing of a memorandum of costs "reflecting the work provided for the Personal Representative."[R. Vol. III, p. 432].

(h) Two days later, the court entered an order requiring that the memorandum of costs be resubmitted [R. Vol. III, p. 486], "to specifically outline the basis for the claimed fees and specific information regarding the value of particular services provided."

(i) Upon appeal, the rulings of the trial court were affirmed.

ISSUES PRESENTED ON APPEAL

I.

WHETHER THE COURT ERRED IN DETERMINING THAT TIME RECORDS FOR WORK PERFORMED ARE REQUIRED, TO ESTABLISH WHETHER ATTORNEY'S FEES ARE REASONABLE?

II.

WHETHER THE COURT ERRED IN DETERMINING THAT IT CANNOT DETERMINE IF ATTORNEY'S FEES ARE REASONABLE WITHOUT TIME RECORDS FOR WORK PERFORMED?

WHETHER THE COURT ERRED IN ORDERING PERSONAL REPRESENTATIVE'S COUNSEL TO SUBMIT TIME RECORDS FOR WORK PERFORMED DESPITE TERMS OF ATTORNEY-CLIENT CONTRACT WHICH DID NOT BASE FEES ON AN HOURLY BASIS?

IV.

WHETHER APPELLANT SHOULD BE AWARDED FEES ON APPEAL, PURSUANT TO §12-121 I.C., IAR 41, IRCP 54(e)(3)(L), AND §15-3-720 I.C.?

ARGUMENT

I

TIME SHEETS NOT APPLICABLE, WHERE A CONTRACT SETS OTHER CRITERIA

The court erred when it determined that the contract between the personal representative and his attorney is subject to IRCP 54(e)(3)(A). Under I.R.C.P 54(e)(3)(L), a court may award reasonable attorney fees. . .when provided for by. . ..contract." Under IRCP 54(e)(3)(A), "The time and labor required" is but one factor used to determine the amount of attorney's fees granted to a party in a civil action. The Idaho Supreme Court, however, has placed limits upon the applicability of IRCP 54(e) to an attorney fee determination, citing IRCP 54(e)(8) as stating: "The provisions of this Rule 54(e) relating to attorney fees shall be applicable. . .to any claim for attorney fees made pursuant. . .to any contract, to the

extent that the application of this Rule 54(e) to such a claim for attorney fees would not be inconsistent with such . . . contract."" <u>Zenner</u> v. <u>Holcomb</u>, 147 Idaho 444, 451. In <u>Zenner</u>, the Court ruled that the factors listed in IRCP 54(e)(3) are not applicable if "considering the factors in IRCP 54(e)(3) would be contrary to the language of the contract and, therefore, contrary to IRCP 54(e)(8). Here, therefore, IRCP 54(e)(3) is not applicable. The contract provision does not contemplate the court's involvement in determining whether the fee is reasonable."

In this case, application of the IRCP 54(e)(3)(A) (time and labor required) factor is contrary to the language of the attorney-client contract between the personal representative and his attorney. The personal representative signed a contract with such attorney for legal representation in this action on October 4, 2006. Under the terms of the contract, appellant agreed to "pay all expenses incurred, together with a fee to be determined by you, based upon what you believe the services to be reasonably worth, and not based upon an hourly basis." In accordance with such contract, the estates were billed according to the reasonable worth of the services, not upon an hourly basis.

II

THE CONTRACT WAS VALID

The court and respondent have not challenged the validity of the

contract, personal representative's authority to enter into the contract on behalf of the estates, or counsel's right to form agreements with his clients on the reasonable value of his legal services (not on an hourly basis).

Had the issue involved plumbing services to the estates, billed at an agreed upon flat rate, respondent's should not be heard to complain that some other plumber might have charged less, or completed the work in less time.

As in Zenner, the contract provision governing attorney compensation herein does not contemplate the court's involvement in determining whether the fee is reasonable. In addition, the "reasonably worth" criterion is in direct contradiction with "the time and labor required" factor of IRCP 54(e)(3)(A). The application of IRCP 54(e)(3)(A) violates the attorney-client contract and, therefore, is contrary to IRCP 54(e)(8).

In order to determine the reasonableness of attorney's fees as required by 15-3-720 I.C., appellant requests that the trial court be required to accept the accounting given concerning attorney's fees, as contained in the Memorandum of Costs submitted to the court on September 16, 2009, and use the factors listed in IRCP 54(e)(3) which do not violate provisions of the attorney-client contract and IRCP 54(e)(8).

THE COURT ERRONEOUSLY CONSIDERED ONLY TIME INVOLVED

The court erred in its determination that it cannot determine the reasonableness of attorney's fees without time records of work performed. In its Order Denying Motion for Reconsideration, issued December 16, 2009, the court mistakenly ruled, "[a]bsent compliance with the court's order, requiring time records for the work performed, the court cannot determine if the claimed attorney's fees are reasonable and cannot grant the request for such fees." Under IRCP 54(e)(3), "(A) The time and labor required" is only one factor used to decide the amount to grant in attorney's fees. The rule provides many other factors, from (B) to (L), including "(J) Awards in similar cases" and "(L) Any other factor which the court deems appropriate in the particular case." "The time and labor required" factor cannot be used in this case.

If, despite the holding in Zenner, IRCP 54(e)(3) should be deemed applicable, appellant requests that the court use factors (B) to (L) along with the previously submitted accounting contained in the Memorandum of Costs, to determine the reasonableness of the claimed attorney's fees.

IV.

COMPLIANCE WOULD HAVE REQUIRED VIOLATION OF IRPC 8.3

The court erred in ordering the appellant counsel to submit time

records for work performed. Under the Idaho Rules of Professional Conduct, 8.4(c), "it is professional misconduct for a lawyer to engage in conduct involving dishonesty, fraud, deceit or misrepresentation."

In this case, the appellant provided the court with a copy of the attorney-client contract, with the provision that billing would be based on the "reasonable worth" of the legal service, not on an hourly basis. On November 19, 2009, the court issued its Order Re: Requests for Additional Detail on Final Accounting and Objection to Memorandum of Costs and commanded that the memorandum of costs filed by personal representative's attorney be resubmitted, to comport with IRCP 54(e)(3), to specifically outline the basis for the claimed fees and specific information regarding the value of particular services provided. On December 1, 2009, personal representative reminded the court in the Motion for Reconsideration that "no time records were maintained." To comply with the court's order to produce time records, appellant's counsel would have had to guess at and fabricate his claimed hours. The fraudulent time records would constitute a deceitful submission to the court, in violation of IRPC 8.4(c), and therefore, personal representative and his attorney could not comply with the court's order.

V

BILLABLE HOURS - - AN OUTMODED CONCEPT

There is a trend--nationally and internationally--away from the

outmoded, unfair practice of determining legal fees based upon the hours (actual

or manufactured) involved in the representation of the client.

A

"For about 50 years now the billable hour has been the dominant feature of the legal profession. And for just as long lawyers have been trying to kill it. A group of litigators who usually couldn't agree that the sky was blue without several footnotes qualifying the shade will gladly sing in harmony about the evils of the billable hour and its partner in crime, the daily time sheet. Yet generations of lawyers have accounted for their work lives in six-minutes increments. Both reviled and ubiquitous, the billable hour is the cockroach of the legal work.

"The basic flaw of the billable hour, say its detractors, is that it puts the financial incentives in the wrong place. Back in a more genteel age, grouse many lawyers, when the practice was more of a profession and less of a business, the cost of legal services was determined not by the amount of time a lawyer spent on a matter but on the value he delivered to the client." Douglas McCollam, "The Billable Hour: Are Its Days Numbered?," The American Lawyer, November 28, 2005, Addendum 1.

В

"Clients have long hated the billable hour. . ..the hours seem to pile up to fill the available space. The clients feel they have no control, that there is no correlation between cost and quality." "Kill the Billable Hour," Forbes Magazine, January 12, 2009, Addendum 2. "... 'The billable hour is fundamentally about quantity over quality, repetition over creativity,' Robert E. Hirshon, the president of the American Bar Association, recently observed." Article by Nicki Kuckes, Distinguished Practitioner at Cornell Law School, in Legal Affairs Magazine, p.1, Addendum 3. Mr. Hirshon referred to it as the "tyranny of the billable hour."

D

"... Treating legal services as a commodity than can be measured in units of time diminishes the importance of both the quality of the work produced and the results achieved. Few other industries would thrive if they measured productivity by the time their workers spent without regard to what those workers created. The standard invites inefficiency, not to mention fraud. The potential for conflicts of interest is obvious— – it's in the firm's financial interest for lawyers to spend as many hours as possible, while the client's interest is best served by limiting the time spent." Kuckes, supra.

E

"The need to bill 2,000 hours a year also means that 'there are bound to be temptations to exaggerate the hours actually put in,' as Chief Justice Rehnquist said. The possibilities for fraud abound, though fraud is often hard to detect. Lawyers can cheat by writing down hours they didn't work or by exaggerating the hours they did." Kuckes, ibid. "... The system of billing by hour has been firmly in place since the 1960s In earlier, perhaps more trusting times, firms stated a price 'for services rendered,' without explanation." Glater, Billable Hours Giving Ground at Law Firms, New York Times, January 30, 2009. Addendum 4.

"When not paid by the hour, lawyers' approach to their work changes

* * * *

"On top of the [fixed] fee. if the case settled for less than what the [client] feared having to pay if it lost in court, the law firm got a percentage of the amount saved. The arrangement made sense when the goal was to resolve the dispute quickly. . ..

"Lawyers on the case negotiated a settlement for much less than the client's worst-case number 'The effective hourly rate was something like 150 percent of our hourly rates,' he added. 'We made money, the client was happy.' In litigation, firms that charge by the hour can suffer if they are too successful and end a lawsuit- – and the stream of payments from continuing work- – too quickly.

One law firm that recently collapsed, Heller Ehrman, was hurt in part because a number of cases had settled." Billable Hours Giving Ground at Law Firms, by Glator, ibid. Addendum 4.

G

"For years, critics have argued that tracking the work day in six-minute intervals— – the standard billing system used by big law firms – – discourages creativity and efficiency. Hourly rates are blamed for driving women out of the profession, and for leaving little time for mentoring, pro bono volunteering, or anything like work-life balance. The American Bar Association <u>sounded the official alarm</u>, in 2002. 'The profession's obsession with billable hours is like drinking water from a fire hose,' wrote Justice Stephen Breyer in the forward [sic] to the ABA's report, 'the result is that many lawyers are starting to drown.'" Lisa Lerer, "The Scourge of the Billable Hour," Washington Post. Addendum 5.

Η

"In a speech at Northwestern University's law school, [Cisco's general counsel] called the billable hour, 'the last vestige of the medieval guild system to survive into the last century." Lerer, ibid.

Ι

"... Cisco ... and several other large corporations have <u>begun to force their law firms</u> into alternative billing arrangements. ... They say that by eradicating or at least limiting hourly rates, they avoid cost creep, cut their bills, and better predict their expenses." Lerer, ibid, Addendum 5.

J

"[T]here is no more vicious culprit than the practice of basing our fees solely on the time spent on a matter." Scott Turow, The Billable Hour Must Die, ABA Journal, 2011, Addendum 6.

Κ

"... I have been unable to figure out how our accepted concepts of conflict of interest can possibly accommodate a system in which the lawyer's economic interests and the client's are so diametrically opposed. "Looking again to the Model Rules, Rule 1-7 provides in part that 'a lawyer shall not represent a client if the representation involves a concurrent conflict of interest,' which the rule defines as occurring when 'there is a significant risk that the representation of one or more clients will be materially limited by . . . a personal interest of the lawyer.'

"I ask you to ponder for just a few minutes whether that rule can really be fulfilled by hourly based fees."

* * * *

"If I had only one wish for our profession from the proverbial genie, I would want us to move toward something better than dollars time hours. Somehow, people as smart and dedicated as we are can do better." Turow, ibid, Addendum 6.

L

"Many of you may have heard the one about the lawyer in his early 40s who arrived at the pearly gates and protested to St. Peter that he had been taken too young and deserved to live longer.

"St. Peter replied that while the lawyer might believe he was only in his early 40s, analysis of his timesheets revealed that he must in fact be in his 90s."

"[T]he Chief Justice of Western Australia, was making a deadly serious point: time-based billing is a moral hazard." Chris Merritt, "The time is up for outdated system of charging by the hour," <u>The Australian</u>, August 20, 2010. Addendum 7. "Companies . . . are asking for flat or capped rather than hourly fees." <u>The Economist</u>, May 7, 2011, p.14. Addendum 8.

Ν

"Clients [are beginning] to demand alternatives to the convention of charging by the hour, such as flat, capped or contingent fees. Small and innovative firms began obliging them, and big firms increasingly felt forced to follow suit." <u>The Economist</u>, May 7, 2011, p.74. Addendum 8.

0

"Curbing those long, lucrative hours." Article, <u>All Business, August</u> 7, 2010, Addendum 9.

Ρ

"Billable Hours Giving Ground at Law Firms." <u>New York Times</u>, June 29, 2009. Addendum 10.

Q

"Time to Experiment with alternative billing practices." <u>The Lawyers' Advantage</u>. Fourth Quarter 1988, stating:

> "Recent surveys confirm that, with the exception of individual plaintiff actions relating primarily to personal injuries, well over 90% of all legal fees charged by law firms are still based solely on hourly rates. During the next decade, however, this approach will be replaced on a selective basis with alternative billing practices. For instance: . . . Value-based fees (fees based solely on agreement reached before during, or at the end of the matter, as to the overall 'value' of the services performed." [sic] Addendum 11.

"Clients are irritated at being overcharged - - through vast hourly fees - - so alternative methods of billing are increasingly being utilized. <u>The Economist</u>, August 11, 2011. Addendum 12.

The time for basing fees upon "billable hours," has passed. The practice encourages inflated time records, and favors the new practitioner over the experienced one.

As an example of the former, consider discovery: typically, the lawyer has the secretary copy the last set of interrogatories (or requests) sent, in a similar case, then bills for several hours, as though each question was painstakingly drafted anew.

As to the latter, the new lawyer might spend hours in researching an issue which the older practitioner has handled dozens (or hundreds) of times. Even at one-half the hourly rate, the new lawyer, then, would be entitled to bill far more than his elder! This system forces the seasoned practitioner to inflate the time spent, as though the hours of research had been necessary.

An experienced attorney could realize upon that experience to cite a decision which could cause her or him to win a \$1,000,000 award – – taking all of 15 minutes to dredge up the memory of the case. Should the fee be limited to a charge for only 15 minutes?

An experienced attorney, having honed his skills over a period of many years, might - – in a given case – – negotiate a significant settlement in a period of a few hours, while a neophyte attorney might spend three days in trial, to APPELLANT' BRIEF-16

R

achieve the same (or a lesser) result. It would be grossly unfair to hold the experienced attorney to only a token, time-related, fee, for having reached a speedy and more rewarding result for the client.

A defense lawyer, in a 1,000,000 personal injury case, who, in one hour, locates an unimpeachable eye witness, who totally vindicates her client, should not be limited to billing for one hour. With such a restriction the attorney might be encouraged to stretch out the case – – so as to have more billable hours.

VI

QUANTUM MERUIT BILLING APPROVED

In addition, if the client and the attorney contract for payment of fees to be based upon the quantum meruit (as determined by the attorney and agreed to by the client), a billing based thereon should be accepted, regardless of the time required or spent. The Idaho Supreme Court has recently recognized quantum meruit billing, in Farrell v. Whiteman, 146 Idaho 604, 612. See also, Barry v. Pacific West, 140 Idaho 827, 834.

Trial courts are currently allowed to consider "any other factor" deemed appropriate - which could include quantum meruit contracts - but typically, they follow IRCP 54 (e)(3)(A), and not (L). In the instant case, the trial court and the district court did not consider IRCP 54(e)(3)(L).

"If any personal representative . . . defends or prosecutes any proceeding in good faith, whether successful or not, he is entitled to recover from the estate his necessary expenses and disbursements, including reasonable attorney's fees incurred." §15-3-720 I.C.

In the event of a favorable ruling herein, the appellant should be

awarded his attorney's fees on appeal, pursuant to §12-121 I.C.

CONCLUSION

The court below improperly abused its discretion and failed to follow

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