Uldaho Law **Digital Commons** @ **Uldaho Law**

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

12-19-2011

Bailey v. Bailey Respondent's Brief Dckt. 38760

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Respondent concurs with Appellant's statement of the case

ISSUES PRESENTED ON APPEAL

The only additional issue to be discussed is the payment of respondents' attorney fees on appeal.

ARGUMENT

I. WHETHER THE COURT ERRED IN DETERMINING THAT TIME RECORDS FOR WORK PERFORMED ARE REQUIRED TO ESTABLISH WHETHER ATTORNEY FEES ARE REASONABLE

The awarding of attorney fees is a matter within the discretion of the trial court and should only be subject to reversal on appeal when there has been an abuse of that discretion. "An abuse of discretion standard requires this Court to inquire as to: (1) Whether the Trial Court correctly perceived the issue as one of discretion; (2) Whether the Trial Court acted within the outer boundaries of its discretion and consistently with the legal standards applicable with to the specific choices available to it; and (3) Whether the Trial Court reached its decision by and exercised of reason." Farmers Insurance Exchange v. Tucker, 142 Idaho 191, 193, 125 P.3d 1067 (2005); Sun Valley Shopping Center, Inc. v. Idaho Power Company, 119 Idaho 87, 94, 803 P.2d 993, 1000 (1991).

In this case on appeal, after significant issues of contention and a trial between the personal representative and the respondents, the respondents requested a final accounting be provided by the personal representative and his attorney. This final accounting contained a line item reflecting the attorney fees paid by the estate to the personal representative's attorney or claimed as owing to the personal representative's attorney. After the trial court requested

additional information to support the claimed attorney fees, appellant provided a written agreement entered into between the personal representative and his attorney at, or prior to the time the estate was opened. In this agreement, the personal representative agreed to pay his attorney whatever the attorney deemed was a reasonable fee.

Appellant claims the trial court erred when it denied the award of fees pursuant to I.R.C.P. 54(e)(3)(A). Appellant suggests that I.R.C.P. 54(e)(3)(L) is the more appropriate standard and under that standard the trial court should have allowed the award of the claimed fees in the final accounting. However, appellant ignores the language of both I.R.C.P. 54(e)(1) and I.R.C.P. 54(e)(3) that any award of attorney fees is discretionary with the court. Rule 54(e)(1) states: "In any civil action the court may award reasonable attorney fees...." This language recognizes that attorney fees are not awarded or approved as a matter of right, but are left to the discretion of the trial court. I.R.C.P. 54(e)(3) also recognizes the discretionary nature of attorney fee awards when it states "In the event the court grants attorney fees to the party....". This language clearly states that the award of attorney fees under I.R.C.P. 54(e)(3) is discretionary. The trial court starts its review of the possible award of attorney fees by first of all determining if fees should even be allowed.

Presuming the trial court determines that fees may be allowed, the next element reviewed in determining whether an award of attorney fees is permissible under both I.R.C.P. 54(e)(1) and I.R.C.P. 54(e)(3) is whether the fees are reasonable.

The question of what constitutes a 'reasonable' attorney fee involves a discretionary determination by the trial court. *Spidell v. Jenkins*, 111 Idaho 857, 727 P.2d 1285 (Ct.App.1986). In exercising this discretion, the court must act consistently with the applicable legal standards listed in I.R.C.P. 54(e)(3).

Associates Northwest v. Beets, 112 Idaho 603, 605, 733 P.2d 824, 826 (Ct.App.1987).

Kelly v. Hodges, 119 Idaho 872 876, 811, P.2d 48, 52 (Ct.App. 1991)

The Rule does not require the court to blindly accept the amount provided by the attorney nor does it allow a blanket award of fees without more proof or information as to the reasonableness. In this case, appellant did not provide any information to satisfy the trial court that the claimed fees were reasonable. Without providing this information, the trial court, in its discretion, could, and did determine that there was insufficient information to award the payment of attorney fees.

Appellant further suggests the trial court erred in relying on I.R.C.P. 54(e)(3) to deny the claim for attorney fees. Appellant claims that the trial court should have analyzed the claim using I.R.C.P. 54(e)(8). Rule 54(e)(8) states:

The provisions of this Rule 54(e) relating to attorney fees shall be applicable to all claims for attorney fees made pursuant to section 12-121, Idaho Code, and to any claim for attorney fees made pursuant to any other statute, or pursuant to any contract, to the extent that the application of this Rule 54(e) to such a claim for attorney fees would not be inconsistent with such other statute or contract.

The reliance on Rule 54(e)(8) is misplaced. This Rule applies to situations involving disputing parties who are involved in actions to enforce the terms of the contract between them. In those cases, there is additional contract language for the payment of attorney fees by the non-prevailing parties of those disputes. Appellants cite *Zenner v. Holcomb*, 147 Idaho 444, 210 P.3d 552 (2009) as support for their position. However, the *Zenner* case involved a contract between disputing parties that called for payment of "actual fees" to the prevailing party if the contract

were disputed as opposed to "reasonable fees". Based on the language in the contract, the appellate court held that the "reasonableness" criteria would be inconsistent and therefore the criteria of Rule 53(e)(3) was not applicable. This is not applicable to this action before this Court. In this current case, there is no contract between the disputing parties. The contract appellant wants to use to avoid the Rule 53(e)(3) criteria is between the personal representative and his attorney, not between the personal representative's attorney and the other beneficiaries. The respondents are not a party to this agreement. The agreement referenced by appellant may be binding and enforceable on the personal representative, but it is not binding on, and cannot be used against, the respondents who were not parties to the agreement. The trial court did not error in refusing to only rely on this retainer agreement between the personal representative and his attorney when reviewing whether to award the claimed attorney fees.

Because the underlying action is a probate of an estate, the trial court reviewed the probate code for direction in awarding attorney fees. The statute that applies for the payment of attorney fees in probate actions is Idaho Code §15-3-720.

"If any personal representative or person nominated as personal representative defends or prosecutes any proceeding in good faith, whether successful or not, is entitled to receive from the estate his necessary expenses and disbursements including reasonable attorney fees incurred."

Idaho Code §15-3-720.

Appellant wants the court to just accept the appellant's attorney's own assessment as to the value for the services claimed to have been provided without any inquiry into the reasonableness. If this were an issue just between the personal representative and his attorney, it might be acceptable to rely on the language of the agreement in allowing the attorney to set the

amount. However, in this case, the personal representative wants his attorney fees paid by the estate which will directly affect all beneficiaries. If the personal representative wants his attorney fees paid by the estate, the claim for those fees is subject to Idaho Code §15-3-720 and it is within the court's discretion to determine whether the claimed fees are reasonable. Rule 54(e)(3) is used by a court to assist it in determining the reasonableness of fees and involves a discretionary determination by the court. *Daisy Manufacturing Co. v. Paintball Sports, Inc.*, 134 Idaho 259, 262, 999 P.2d 914 (Ct. App 2000). "A court is permitted to examine the reasonableness of the time and labor expended by the attorney under I.R.C.P. 54(e)(3)(A) and need not blindly accept the figures advanced by the attorney...." *Id* at 262, citing *Craft Wall of Idaho, Inc. v. Stonebraker*, 108 Idaho 704, 706, 701 P.2d 324, 326 (Ct.App.1985). If the court is to award attorney fees under Rule 54(e)(3), than it must have sufficient information at its disposal concerning the factors Rule 54(e)(3). Some of these factors can only be provided by the attorney.

We believe it is incumbent upon a party seeking attorney fees to present sufficient information for the court to consider factors as they specifically relate to the prevailing party or parties seeking fees. Streeter has failed to do this, therefore, we find no error in the denial of a fee award to Streeter.

Hackett v. Streeter, 109 Idaho 261, 264, 706 P.2d 1372 (Ct. App. 1985).

In Sun Valley Potato Growers, Inc. v. Texas Refinery Corp., 139 Idaho 761, 86 P.3d 475 (2004), the appellate court overturned a district court award of attorney fees because the district court was without sufficient information concerning the 54(e)(3) factors. In that case, Texas Refinery was precluded from an award of a specific amount of attorney fees because it chose not to provide time sheets to support the claimed fees. Because there was no underlying, supporting

information for the claimed fees, the district court could not determine the reasonableness of the claimed fees.

In this case, appellant's attorney wants the court to rely solely on his claim that the fees are reasonable as satisfaction of the 54(e)(3) factors. However, the trial court used its discretion to review the information provided and to determine that this claim was insufficient to satisfy the Rule 54(e)(3) factors and, following the holding in *Texas Refinery*, determined that it could not award the claimed fees. The court did not abuse its discretion by not blindly accepting the requested attorney fees presented by personal representative's attorney without more information. The trial court used its discretion to disallow the requested fees because there was no information to assist the trial court to find that the claimed fees were reasonable using the Rule 54(e)(3) factors.

In this case, it was incumbent on appellant and appellant's attorney to present sufficient information for the court to consider the reasonableness of the fees claimed. Because that did not occur, the court could not enter a finding awarding the claimed fees. There was no error in denying the claimed fee.

II. THE CONTRACT WAS VALID

Appellant argues that the agreement between the personal representative was valid and therefore, no other inquiry was necessary or required by the trial court. However, as indicated earlier, it is not just a question of the validity of the agreement between the personal representative and his attorney. The respondents are not a party to this agreement. The agreement referenced by appellant may be binding and enforceable on the personal

representative, but is not binding on, and cannot be used against, the respondents who were not parties to the agreement. In addition, appellant's reliance on *Zenner*, is misplaced. The *Zenner* case involved a contract between disputing parties. In this current case, there is no contract between the disputing parties. The trial court did not error in refusing to only rely on this agreement between the personal representative and his attorney when reviewing whether to award the claimed attorney fees.

III. THE COURT ERRONEOUSLY CONSIDERED ONLY TIME INVOLVED

Appellant wants the Court to ignore I.R.C.P. 54(e)(3) factors except for Rule 54(e)(3)(L) to award fees. Rule 54(e)(3)(L) states the trial court may rely on "Any other factor which the court deems appropriate in the particular case." First of all, the use of this factor is still left to the discretion of the trial court in that it is left to the court to determine what is appropriate. In this case, the trial court used its discretion to reject the information presented as not being appropriate. This was not error.

Secondly, the court cannot consider "any other factor" of Rule 54(e)(3)(L) to the exclusion of time and labor and the other factors.

Rule 54(e)(3) lists the factors which the district court "shall consider ... in determining the amount of such fees." One factor is the "time and labor required." The district court may also consider "[a]ny other factor ... appropriate in the particular case." But the court may not focus upon such "other" factors to the exclusion of the "time and labor" and the remaining factors listed in the rule.

DeWils Interiors, Inc. v. Dines, 106 Idaho 288, 290, 678 P.2d 80, 82 (Ct. App. 1984); citing Logosz v. Childers, 105 Idaho 173, 667 P.2d 276 (Ct. App. 1983).

The Court cannot look to the agreement between the personal representative and his attorney to the exclusion of all other factors. The trial court did not error in reviewing the Rule

54(e)(3) factors, including time and labor under Rule 54(e)(3)(A) and finding the appellant's presentation of information insufficient to award attorney fees. The court did not err when it concluded that it could not determine the reasonableness of claimed or requested attorney fees without additional information and in denying the attorney fees when no additional information was provided.

IV. COMPLIANCE WOULD HAVE REQUIRED VIOLATION OF IRPC 8.4(c)

Appellant was without the ability to submit the information requested by the court because it cannot manufacture this information and stay in compliance with I.R.C.P. 8.4(c). This does not create error on the part of the trial court. Appellant chose not to retain information that would satisfy the Rule 54(e)(3) factors. The Court did not abuse its discretion in that it gave Appellant additional opportunities to provide more information prior to denying the fee award. Appellant was unable to provide any additional information, and therefore the Court was unable to award fees as requested.

V. BILLABLE HOURS - AN OUTMODED CONCEPT

Appellant provided a significant amount of information and articles outside of the transcripts and court records. This information suggests a trend away from the standard billable hour. Regardless of whether there is a "trend" away from the billable hour, awards of attorney fees in Idaho is governed by the statutes as discussed above. The trial court made no error in adhering to the rules.

VI. QUANTUM MERUIT BILLING APPROVED

Appellant wants the Court to approve the requested attorney fees under the theory of quantum meruit. In support of this argument, appellant cites *Farrell v. Whiteman*, 146 Idaho 604, 200 P.3d 1153 (2009). However, this was not a case wherein the Court applied quantum meruit to award or approval of attorney fees. The Farrell case was a case involving a disputed agreement between two parties. It does not apply to this action.

Although quantum meruit has been used as a means of awarding equitable relief for awarding value of services rendered, it is inapplicable to the determination of awarding or approving attorney fees. As has been discussed throughout this brief, the award of attorney fees is controlled by statute. Those statutes, including I.R.C.P. 54(e)(3) provide the guidance to the court to determine, in its discretion, whether fees are warranted and reasonable.

VII. ATTORNEY FEES ON APPEAL

Respondent is entitled to attorney fees on appeal pursuant to I.C. §12-121. Appellant has sought this appeal frivolously, unreasonably and without foundation.

CONCLUSION

The court did not error in using its discretion when it denied the award of attorney fees because appellant failed to provide sufficient information required under Idaho Code §15-3-720 and I.R.C.P. 54(e)(3).